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CHAPTER 1 — Introduction

Ilvinghoe Conservation Area was designated by Aylesbury Vale District Council in 1971 and
has not been reviewed since. Conservation Area designations must be reviewed from time to
time in order to ensure that they are still appropriate, and that the designated Conservation

Area boundaries are up to date. The plan below shows the original 1971 Conservation

Area boundary.

N Ivinghoe Conservation Area
1971 boundary
Golf Course
Piggery
Sl
Ford;End Farm
Moat
Reservoir
0@;
Ivinghoe
Bk B 5 Recreation Ground Rliimeni Gardehe
Village s
School
%5 ~Der
REEF 2
Q 50 100 200
© Crown Copyright and database right 2014 D= metres
Ordnance Survey 1000019797

In July 2014, Aylesbury Vale District Council was asked by Ivinghoe Parish Council to look at
reviewing the Conservation Area within in the village.
lvinghoe Conservation Area has now been reviewed and this new Conservation Area

Appraisal has been produced. This appraisal identifies those elements which make the

Conservation Area special and worthy of designation. This document also outlines a number

of changes to the 1971 Conservation Area boundary.
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It is acknowledged that this document cannot be comprehensive and where buildings,

features and spaces etc. have not been specifically identified, it should not be assumed that
they are of no significance.

At the time of publication the process of public consultation adopted in the production of this

document conformed with Aylesbury Vale District Council’s Statement of Community

Involvement, as adopted in October 2006.
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CHAPTER 2 — Planning Policy

The Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that the local

planning authority must:

e determine which parts of their district are of ‘special architectural or historic interest the
character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance’

e designate those areas as Conservation Areas
e review past designations and determine whether they are still appropriate

e designate any further areas which are now considered to be of interest

The process of review and designation of Conservation Areas adopted by AVDC is laid out in
the AVDC Conservation Areas Supplementary Planning Document (March 2011) and is in
accordance with the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. The
process has also been laid out with regard to general principles in the National Planning

Policy Framework 2012 (and associated guidance).
As part of the designation and review a Conservation Area appraisal is produced. This
appraisal is written with help from the local community and:

e explains the reasons and justifications for the designation

e defines the special architectural and historic interest of the area

e increases public awareness of the historic built environment

e informs decisions relating to design and development

e informs decisions regarding the management of the area

e guides the form and content of new development

e aids decision making in relation to planning appeals

The purpose of Conservation Area designation is to acknowledge the special character of an
area. Designation is not intended to prevent future development of an area, nor would it be
desirable or constructive to do so as it would inhibit the natural growth of the settlement.
However, new development within historic areas should not be allowed to obscure the
special interest of a place, and designation, along with other forms of protection, must

inform planning decisions relating to the historic environment.
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In the UK householders have Permitted Development Rights which allow them to undertake
certain works to their homes without the need for Planning Permission. Within Conservation
Areas some permitted development rights are restricted. This means that applications for
planning permission will be required for certain types of work not normally needing consent.
A list of the types of development controlled by Conservation Area designation is contained

on Aylesbury Vale District Council's (AVDC's) website.

Also contained on the AVDC website a list of Planning Policies contained within Aylesbury
Vale District Council’'s Local Plan (January 2004) which relate to Conservation Areas and the

management of the historic environment.
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CHAPTER 3 — Summary

There are many aspects to lvinghoe that make it distinctive and worthy of Conservation
Area designation, but perhaps the most fundamental is its setting. Ivinghoe is picturesquely
located against the visually stunning backdrop of the Chiltern Hills and on the edge of the
Chiltern Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. Due to it's elevated position, a number of
spectacular panoramic views can be gained from various vantage points throughout the
village. The contrast between the expansiveness of these views and the intimate and
enclosed nature of parts of the historic core of lvinghoe is a distinctive characteristic of the

village and one that it is important to maintain.

lvinghoe is very verdant. Trees, vegetation and open space play a fundamental role in
establishing the character of the village and reinforcing its visual connection to the
surrounding rural landscape. Ivinghoe is unusual in that the openness of The Lawn area
allows the landscape to the north and north-west to extend right into the heart of the
village. This lack of clear definition between rural and built space is a key element of

its character.

Ivinghoe was formerly an agricultural settlement and is one of the ‘strip parishes’ found in
an area known as the Icknield Belt where the Vale of Aylesbury meets the Chiltern Hills.
These parishes are long and thin in shape and encompass a diverse landscape of arable
meadows in the low-lying Vale and the woods and pastures of the Chiltern slopes which
allowed parishioners to exploit a wide range of resources. lvinghoe was the largest
settlement in a parish of hamlets and dispersed farms and this, as well as its position at the
junction of two roads and its visual prominence within the landscape, made it a perfect

location for a market.

lvinghoe’s connection to its surrounding landscape is still evident in the vernacular style of
its surviving historic buildings. Its significance as a centre for local trade at the junction of
two locally important roads is still reflected in the layout of the village which has remained
relatively unchanged since the medieval period. The fact that the form of the principle roads
through lvinghoe and the open character of The Lawn and the fields to the north-west of
the village have survived basically unchanged for centuries creates a strong and tangible
connection with the past, is key to our understanding of the development of the village and

is fundamental to its historic character.

Ivinghoe contains an eclectic mixture of buildings that range in date from the 13" to the 21
centuries, 28 of these buildings are listed and are significant both in terms of their age and
their architectural detailing. Other buildings, although not listed make positive contributions
to the character and visual appearance of the Conservation Area. Pre-19™ century buildings

are vernacular in style, drawing upon the woodlands of the Chilterns and local brick works to
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provide construction materials. The development of the canal and railway networks within
the vicinity is clearly reflected in the changing appearance of buildings within the village

during the 19™ century.

All these aspects combine together to create a settlement which has a unique and distinctive
character that is desirable to preserve and enhance. Local residents view their village as a
distinct settlement with a strong sense of place, as is evident in their proposal to develop a

Neighbourhood Plan and to commission this Conservation Area review.
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CHAPTER 4 — Location and Context

Location and Context

lvinghoe is situated in the south-eastern area of
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The parish boundary is distinctive, being long and thin and stretching from the Vale up into
the Chiltern Hills. This type of ‘strip parish,’ which is characteristic of historic parishes within
the Icknield Belt allowed parishioners to exploit the varied resources of the area including
the arable land and meadows found within the flatter Vale landscape and the woodlands and

summer pastures founds on the hills.
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Landscape Setting
lvinghoe is located within the Pitstone and Edlesborough Landscape Character Area. This

area stretches between Slapton and Edlesborough and incorporates Pitstone, Cheddington

Marsworth and Ivinghoe.
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The village is located within the rural, gently undulating landscape that characterises the
junction between the relatively flat landscape of the Vale and the foothills of the Chilterns.
The geology of the area comprises of West Melbury marly chalk formation. The soils around

lvinghoe are non-alluvial deep loam in the south-western part of the village and shallow silt

over clay in the north-eastern part.

Despite the creation in the 20" century of large prairie fields, areas of pre-19" century
parliamentary enclosure do still survive in the northern part of the parish. Traditionally these
arable meadows were used for summer grazing. In the southern half of the parish 20"
century field systems have also had an impact, but some evidence of historical agricultural
practices still survive in the form of pre-18" century irregular enclosure, woodland and
downland. Pre-18"™ century enclosure occurred from the 15" to the 17" century on a
piecemeal basis and examples are commonly found within Buckinghamshire. Downland
landscapes are characterised by gentle rounded hills, sloping scarpes, dry combes and free

draining chalk soils. This type of landscape was historically managed in a similar manner to

common land.

10
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A key physical feature in the area is the Whistle Brook which rises in fields to the south-east
of St. Mary’s Church and runs in a curve along the western side of the village forming the
boundary between the parishes of Ivinghoe and Pitstone. Historically the brook was used to
drive watermills at Pitstone and Ivinghoe, but was affected by the creation of the Grand
Union Canal at the end of the 18" century. The Whistle Brook flows northwards from the

village, eventually joining the River Ouse.

Height in metres [ Jresstranso [ Jso-100 [ 120-140 [ 160- 150
® Crown copyright. Al rights reserved 000019767 2011 :’ 100 - 120 - 140 - 160 - over 180

The village is located on the edge of the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and

close to the Ashridge Estate which is within the ownership of the National Trust.

11
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CHAPTER 5 — Historic Development

Early Origins

lvinghoe is located within an area rich in archaeological evidence of prehistoric occupation
dating back as far as the Pleistocene and Palaeolithic periods. However, limited
archaeological evidence of prehistoric activity has been discovered within the village itself.
Similarly there is little archaeological evidence of Roman settlement at Ivinghoe, despite
there being a large number of archaeological discoveries which allude to Roman settlement

in the surrounding area, including a possible villa at Pitstone.

It has been suggested that there may have been a Saxon church at Ivinghoe, although no
physical evidence to substantiate this has been discovered The earliest surviving fabric
within St. Mary’s dates back to the 13" century. It is however documented that by the end
of the 13" century, St. Mary’s Church at lvinghoe was the seventh most valuable church

within the county.

The earliest written record of Ivinghoe is found within the Domesday book of 1086 which
states that estate was in the ownership of St. Peter’s Church in Winchester. Within the
Domesday Book lvinghoe is referred to as Evinghehou. The name Evinghehou is thought to
mean the hoh of Ifa’s people, hoh being the Old English word for heeland, a term used to
describe hills of a distinctive shape like that of the heel of a shoe, which are found within the

Chilterns area.

At the beginning of the 14th century, the Bishop of Winchester granted Ivinghoe the right to
hold a weekly market within the village. This is significant because it demonstrates that the
village's position on the foothills of the wooded Chilterns and adjacent to the arable land of
the Vale made it an ideal location for trading goods and produces from both areas. There is
however no clear evidence as to where the market was held within the village, although the
obvious location would appear to be in the space created by the junction of the B488 and
the B489. The Town Hall which dates back to the 16th century and originally had an open
market on the ground floor is located close to this area and may well have replaced an older

market hall on this site.
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Historic maps of the village show that the space at the junction of Vicarage Lane and Church
Road was originally much larger and it is also possible that this was the original location of
the market. It has been suggested that the strange bend in the B488 could be explained by
the road being deliberately diverted to the east in order to pass through a market on this

site as occurred at Thame in Oxfordshire.

During the medieval period the economy of Ivinghoe was based on agriculture. Historic
records reveal that the main crops grown within the area were wheat, barley and oats.
There was also a warren in the area which would have provided rabbit meat. The woodlands
of the Chilterns were used for pigs and also for timber utilised in the construction of
buildings and as firewood. Down in the meadowlands of the Vale, hay was grown for animal
feed and the streams within the lower part of the parish powered watermills. The only
surviving watermill within the area is located at Ford End and is post medieval, but there is
believed to have been a watermill dating from the 14th century at Horton. Windmills are also
mentioned within documentary records dating back to the 13th century. The Pitstone

windmill located a short distance to the south of the village dates from the 17th century.

During the post medieval period the ownership of the lvinghoe manor and estate passed
between the Mason, Glenhan and Cheyne families and the Bishopric of Winchester. Since the

early 17th century the manor has been within the ownership of the Ashridge estate.
16™ and 17" centuries

By the mid-16™ century the market at Ivinghoe was in decline, probably due to competition
from the nearby settlements of Tring and Dunstable. The owner of the estate Sir John
Mason, surrendered the existing rights to hold markets and fairs and applied for new grants
to hold a weekly market on a Saturday and two fairs, one in April and the second in October.
He was also granted the right to hold a summary court on market or fair days. The Town
Hall dates from the late 16th century and may well have formed part of Sir John Mason’s

efforts to revitalise the market at lvinghoe.

It is not clear what happened to lvinghoe during the period of the Civil War. The Victoria
County Histories state that the village was occupied by Parliamentarian soldiers and attacked

by Royalist forces, but there appears to be no historical evidence to support this.

13
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18" century

Historic maps dating back to the 18" century show significant development within the village
with the construction of buildings along Vicarage Lane, and the northern and eastern
boundaries of the churchyard. Development is relatively dense around the road junctions
and churchyard and less dense at the northern ends of Station Road and the western
extremities of the High Street. The majority of the listed buildings within lvinghoe date from

the 17" century.

Vicarage Lane
Station Road

Church Road

High Street

Extract from 1762 Duke of Bridgewater’s estate map
Map produced with permission of
the Centre for Buckinghamshire Studies

The Meacher Brewery in lvinghoe was established by Thomas Meacher in 1766. Until its
closure in 1927 the brewery buildings, located to the south-west of the churchyard
dominated the historic core of the village. The Manager’s house, a fine classically influenced
building built in 1800, is the one of only two buildings remaining from the original brewery
complex. During the 19" century the brewery was a major employer within the village and is

thought to have supplied beer to 200 public houses in the area.

In 1793 work started on the construction of the Grand Union Canal. Progress was slow due
to the difficulties encountered in crossing the Chilterns. In 1815 the Aylesbury branch of the

canal was opened. The Grand Union Canal lies approximately 1 mile from Ivinghoe and its
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proximity would have enabled the villagers to both import and export produce. Significantly
the canal brought in cheaper and varied building materials from outside the local area which
resulted in a movement away from local vernacular style buildings to a more generic style
of architecture.

19" century

The 19" century was a period of considerable change within the village and surrounding
area. In 1821 a Parliamentary Enclosure was awarded which coincided with a period of
agricultural boom and a dramatic rise in population during the first half of the century. This
is reflected in the development of a number of 19" century buildings within the village,
particularly along Vicarage Lane, Wellcroft and Ladysmith Road.

1821 Inclosure Map
Map produced with permission of
the Centre for Buckinghamshire Studies

15
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The development of the railway in the first half of the 19™ century helped support the
economic boom and provided competition with the canal. The railway provided a direct link
between London and Birmingham with stations at Cheddington and Tring. This opened up
the market for the importation and exportation of goods and the movement of people. The
railway would also have reinforced the importance of Tring as a market town, a factor which
may have contributed to the decline of the market at lvinghoe during the latter half of the

19" century.

A period of agricultural depression during the second half of the 19" century would have
brought hardship to the local population of Ivinghoe which was further compounded by a
decline in the straw plaiting trade. Straw plaiting had been an important cottage industry in
Ivinghoe and Buckinghamshire probably since the late 17" century. The straw plaits were
used to make rustic hats and bonnets. The Napoleonic Wars cut off the supply of finer
quality plaits from Italy during the late 18" and early 19™ century resulting in a boom in the
industry in this country. Census figures for the mid-19" century show that straw plaiting was
a major cottage industry within lvinghoe and one that all members of a family were
employed in. The plaits they made were sold either to straw plait dealers or at the village
market and the decline in the trade during the latter half of the 19" century due to
competition from cheaper foreign importations may have contributed to the closure of

lvinghoe market at the end of the century.

During the mid to late 19™ century there was some Coprolite mining within the parish of
lvinghoe. Coprolite is fossilised animal faeces which when burnt releases phosphates which
could be used as fertiliser. Although there are no entries within the census records around
this time of Coprolite miners, it is likely that local farm labourers may have been employed
to dig Coprolite during the winter months when there was limited work to be done in the
fields. By the late 1870s cheaper imports made the industry uneconomical and local supplies

of the material had become exhausted.

20™ century

With the exception of the post First World War houses (18-36, High Street) and some mid-
20th century development along Ladysmith Road, early 20th century maps of the village
show relatively little development within the village. In the 1960s new housing estates were
built at Maud Jane’s Close and along the northern side of Wellcroft. Infill development
occurred along High Street, between Vicarage Lane and Station Road and has continued

throughout the whole village.
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Surviving historic buildings
The plan shows the earliest surviving period of construction of each building within Ivinghoe.
For listed buildings, the building period shown is that noted in the listing description for the
building. It is acknowledged that many of these dates are conservative, as most buildings

were not surveyed internally at the time of listing.
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CHAPTER 6 — Alterations to Boundary

The principles applied in defining the Conservation Area boundaries are included in the
AVDC Conservation Area SPD (published in March 2011). Where landscape features such as
a row of trees or an important hedge follow the Conservation Area boundary, then the
Conservation Area status is assumed to apply to the whole landscape feature. It is not

therefore necessary to define the width of a hedge or the span of a tree.

\ /

\
A\

D Conservation Area

- Areas added to Conservation Area in 2015

Areas in 1971 Conservation Area which will remain in 2015 Conservation Area
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Areas to be added in the 2015 review

1. Former Wesleyan Chapel, High Street
The Former Wesleyan Chapel was built in 1865, replacing an early structure dating from
1837. The cost of the chapel’s construction was met by the Hawkins family from Pitstone
Green. The chapel is constructed of buff coloured bricks with decorative orange brick
detailing. Arched windows at ground level flank a central doorway with an arched window
flanked by narrower arched windows above. Decorative painted wooden verge boards

articulate the eaves level.

The Wesleyan Chapel is an attractive and
visually eye-catching building which is
prominently positioned on the High Street. Its
form and articulation is characteristic of non-
conformist chapels dating from the mid to late
19" century and it is significant both in terms

of the visual contribution it makes to the

street scene, but also to our understanding of

the social and spiritual history of the village. Former Wesleyan Chapel

2. Yew Tree House, High Street
The 1971 Conservation Area boundary cut through the grounds of Yew Tree House, High
Street. For the sake of clarity and to avoid confusion, the boundary has been aligned to

include the whole of the grounds of this property.

3. Allotments, Church Road
Visible on the 1926 map of Ivinghoe, the allotments remain a central focus to community
life. This large area of open land is located on the south-eastern edge of the village. Located
on relatively steeply sloping ground, long-distance views of the landscape to the south-west
of the village, can be glimpsed through the band of trees that line the south-western side of
Church Road. Attractive views of
the St. Mary’s Church set against
a foreground of trees and
vegetation are also gained from

the allotments.

The allotments, Church Road

19
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Grounds of 19b, Church Road
The 1971 Conservation Area boundary cut through the grounds of 19b, Church Road. For
the sake of clarity and to avoid confusion, the boundary has been aligned to include the

whole of the grounds of this property.

Grounds of 2- 12, Vicarage Lane
The 1971 Conservation Area boundary cut through the grounds of nos. 2 to 12, Vicarage
Road. For the sake of clarity and to avoid confusion, the boundary has been aligned to

include the whole of the grounds of this property.

Nos. 20, 24, 26, 28, 30, 32, 34, 38, 40, 42, 44, and the Golf House,
Wellcroft and 2, 4 and 5, The Baulk

Historic maps of Ivinghoe village suggest that development along the south-eastern side of
Wellcroft began between 1821 and 1856. Development was initially concentrated around the
junction of Wellcroft, Vicarage Road and Ladysmith Road, spreading to The Baulk and
Prospect Place by the 1880s. The 19" century buildings located along Wellcroft are relatively
modest in scale and many have been altered in more recent times, but they nevertheless
represent a cohesive group of buildings constructed at a time of dramatic population rise

within the village brought about in part by a period of agricultural prosperity.

Green at junction of Ladysmith Road and Station Road
This small area of grass at the
junction of Ladysmith Road and
Station Road is important in
foreground views of Station Road
from the north-west. The grass helps
to soften the road edge,
complements the organic forms of

the trees and grass verge and bank

on the opposite side of Station Road Grass verge at junction of
and provides an attractive foreground Station Road and Ladysmith Road

to views of The Old House.

Field adjacent to The Lawn

This field is located to the north west of The Lawn. From this field impressive panoramic
views of the Vale are gained and the field itself forms an attractive foreground to similar
views gained from The Lawn. Historic maps of the village show that the field was largely
undeveloped but a building complex did exist on the site close to the Station Road frontage

which was demolished during the 19™ century. The same maps also show footpaths crossing
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the site which would have provided important pedestrian routes between Station Road and
High Street, in particular to the former village school. Today three footpaths still cross
the field.

16 to 36 (even) High Street

These buildings are examples of Homes for Heroes which was a campaign established
following The First World War when the public became aware that many veterans were
returning to poor quality housing particularly in urban areas. In 1919 the Government
required councils to provide housing for war veterans assisting them in this provision

through subsidies under the Housing Act 1919.

Ford End Farm

Ford End Farm is visible in the 1884 map of the village.
It is an attractive and substantial detached buff coloured
brick building with steeply pitched gabled roofs and
prominent chimney stacks. Adjacent to the main farm
house is a farmyard complex of buff coloured brick and
part weather boarded former utilitarian outbuildings,
now converted to domestic residences. Despite its

dislocation from lvinghoe, this attractive agricultural

complex is significant because it is visually prominent in
. . . . . Ford End Farm from

middle distance views from lvinghoe recreation ground Station Road

and from points along Station Road. It is also significant

because it reflects the former importance of agriculture as the mainstay of the local

economy and reflects the rural character of the village and its surrounding area.

Ford End Watermill
Ford End Watermill is a grade 11 listed building dating from the late 18th century located on
the Whistle Brook. The ground floor is constructed of red and vitreous bricks and the upper
floor is timber framed and weather-boarded. It was bought by the Ashridge Estate in 1826
and sold again in 1924. In 1965 the
Pitstone Local History Society restored
the mill and it is now the only working

watermill in the county.

The Watermill, Ford End

21
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12.

Whistle Brook Farm

Whistle Brook Farm is a grade 11 listed former farmhouse dating from the 17" century. It is
constructed of timber frame with a steeply pitched formerly thatched, now tiled, roof and
central chimney stack. The building is
visually attractive and is significant
because of its date, its surviving
architectural features and because,
like Ford End Farm, it reflects the
former importance of agriculture as

the mainstay of the local community.

Whistle Brook Farm, Ford End

A 2015 conservation area
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CHAPTER 7 — Key Views and Vistas

Due to its elevated position within the foothills of the
Chilterns, views both into and out of lvinghoe are
significant and are key elements in establishing the
character of the village and its setting within the

wider landscape.

Of particular note are the expansive panoramic views
gained from The Lawn at the centre of the village

which extend westwards across the Vale. Significant

features within these views include the grade | listed

View north-westwards from
the Recreation Ground

Mentmore Towers, natural features such as
Cheddington Hill and heritage assets such as the
19" century farmhouse and farmyard complex at Ford End. The views are rural in character
with individual and small groups of buildings and trees dispersed within the middle and

long distance

Other significant views of the surrounding landscape are gained from the peripheries of the
village. These include long distance views towards Pitstone, glimpsed from the allotment,
through the trees on the south-western side of the B488, and views from The Baulk looking

north-westwards across the Vale towards Cheddington Hill.

Of particular note are the panoramic views gained from Green Lane which extend from
Pitstone to the south-west round to the Chilterns to the east and south-east. Prominent in
these views is the 17" century grade 11* listed
Pitstone Windmill which is located in the
middle of an arable field and is viewed against
the backdrop of the Chiltern Hills. The isolated
form of the windmill with its distinctive outline
created by its four sails and black
weatherboarding is an evocative landmark
that provides a vivid visual link back to

the past.

Pitstone Windmill
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All the long distance views gained from within lvinghoe are significant because they serve to
visually connect the village with the wider rural landscape and reinforce its character as a

former agricultural community. Crucially, they encompass both the Chilterns and the Vale

A \ X Key Views and Vistas |

~Numerous glimpsed
/ views between trees
on Station Road

E Conservation Area
P> General view

— Glimpsed view
— > Specificview

=& Unfolding view

" Panoramic view
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landscapes, visually establishing Ivinghoe as a parish that sits on the margins of each - a

fact which has significantly influenced its development throughout the course of history.

The contrasting character of expansive and intimate views is a striking and distinctive

element of lvinghoe’s character. Along the majority of the length of High Street, Church

Road and Vicarage Lane, views are primarily contained by the buildings or trees that line the

carriageways. The buildings along these sections of road tend to be positioned towards the

front of their plots creating a hard edge to the street and a strong sense of intimacy and

enclosure which channels views in both directions along the carriageway. A number of

sweeping bends truncate these
channelled views and focuses
them upon individual buildings
or trees. Where this occurs, a
sense of expectation is created
which draws the viewer along

the road.

Buildings such as the Old
Vicarage, the Kings Head, and
the Old Brewery feature
prominently in views due to
their location at junctions or
bends. Although the church is
set back within the churchyard
and partially obscured by trees
and vegetation, its spire and
tower are an important visual
reference point and a key
landmark in views within the
village. It is visible from The
Lawn, High Street, Station
Road and Church Road.

The OId Vicarage provides focus to a truncated view
looking north-westwards along Church Road

View of St. Mary’s Church from The Lawn
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St. Mary’s Church is also a
landmark feature in views from
outside the village looking into
the Conservation Area.
Particularly fine views of the
tower and spire can be seen set
against a backdrop of trees from

the Grand Union Canal.

Within the historic core of the
village, there are many glimpsed
views between buildings and
trees of the outline of the
Chiltern Hills.

View of Ivinghoe from the Grand Union Canal
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CHAPTER 8 — Open Spaces and Trees

The rural setting of Ivinghoe is a dominant element of its character. The Chilterns form an
omnipresent backdrop to the village and the open character of the fields leading up from
Ford End to The Lawn allows the expanse of the Vale landscape to extend into the very
heart of the village.

Open Spaces and Trees
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Trees between or K
adjacent to conservation {%
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approach fo the
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Conservation Area designation recognises the importance of not only individual historic
buildings, but also the character of the spaces between them. At Ivinghoe, the recreation
ground/The Lawn and fields to the north-west are arguably as significant in establishing the
character of the village, as the buildings that adjoin them. This area is shown on historical
maps of Ivinghoe as having remained largely, although not completely undeveloped since at
least the 18" century. The manor house that stood on the site of the recreation ground and
is shown on the 1809 map of the
village had been demolished by
1856 as had the complex of
buildings opposite the junction of
Maud Janes Close and Ladysmith
Road. The Lawn was given by
Countess Bridgewater to the
village in the 19" century and has
functioned as a community space
from this period. The field to the

north-west of The Lawn is in

private ownership and is crossed

by three footpaths which provide

1809 Parish map showing The Lawns

important connections within the ) o
Map produced with permission of

village. These large area of open the Centre for Buckinghamshire Studies

space within the village are

significant because;
e they establish the village centre
e they provide a focal point for community activities.

« they are crossed by footpaths, (visible on 19" century maps of Ivinghoe)

which improve the permeability of the village.

e they create a physical and visual connection between lvinghoe and

the surrounding landscape.

e they reinforce the rural character of the village, both in terms of the views gained from
The Lawn and the footpaths in the field to the north-west and the trees and vegetation

that characterise them.
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e the open character of The Lawn and the fields to the north-west and the expansive
views gained from them provide a surprising and impressive contrast with the enclosed
and intimate character of other areas of the village such as sections of Main Road,

Church Road and Vicarage Lane.

e the trees that line the north-eastern and south-eastern edges are architectural in their
scale and outline and create a sense of formality that helps to reinforce the importance

of the spaces as a central focus of the village.

o the trees, verges and open space within and bordering The Lawn and the field
to the north-west provide a soft organic contrast to the hard edges of the buildings,

pavements and carriageways.

e the areas provide an attractive foreground to views of individual buildings.

Other areas of open space within the village include St. Mary’s churchyard and the
allotments on Church Road. The churchyard is relatively large and enclosed along the
Church Road frontage by trees. Similar to the trees that border The Lawn, those enclosing
the churchyard are large and have an architectural quality to them that helps to create the

sense of a more formal space.

Historical maps dating from the early 19"
century show that a row of cottages fronted
directly onto Church Road enclosing the
north-western and north-eastern sides of the
churchyard. This row of cottages, which
were demolished in the early 1900s would
have created a very contained and insular
churchyard dislocated from the rest of the
village. Today, the trees provide enclosure,
but the gaps between them allow a much

greater flow of space between Church Road

and the churchyard.

1809 Parish map showing cottages
enclosing St. Mary’s churchyard

Map produced with permission of
the Centre for Buckinghamshire Studies
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The allotments are located at
the eastern extremity of the
village. They first appear on
maps dating from the early 20"
century. The allotments are an
attractive, well maintained and
vibrant community space which

makes a positive contribution to

the visual quality of the

The allotments, Church Road
environment. Long distance
views of the landscape to the south-west of Ivinghoe can be gained from the allotments
as can views of the tower and spire of St. Mary’s Church framed by the trees that line

Church Road.

lvinghoe is a verdant village and trees, banks and grass verges play a crucial role in

establishing its character. They help to;
e visually reinforce the connection between the village and its rural surroundings.

e increase the legibility of the landscape, by following sections of the principal road
through the village, follow the course of the Whistle Brook, define field boundaries and

cluster around St. Mary’s Church.

e provide soft organic boundaries along sections of Main Street, Station Road and Church

Road which contrast with the hard outlines of the buildings.

e help create more formal community spaces of high amenity value due to the scale and
architectural quality of trees bordering the
recreational grounds, Station Road and
Church Road.

e overhang the carriageway and help to visually
reinforce the narrowness and sense of
containment of some roads in the village such

as Vicarage Lane.

e create a strong sense of enclosure where trees
hang over roads or footpaths and also create
distinctive contrasts of light and shade. This is
particularly apparent along the section of

Vicarage Lane and Green Lane.
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e provide foregrounds and backdrops to 5 : ————
views of individual buildings and the o
wider landscape. Examples include the =~ s S
large group of trees in the rear
gardens of buildings fronting onto the
north-eastern side of Vicarage Lane
and the trees enclosing The Lawn and

churchyard.

e partially obscure views of many of the

buildings within the village. As a result View of St. Mary’s Church set against
foreground and backdrop of trees.

buildings appear to sit within the Taken from Grand Union Canal

landscape rather than dominate it.
e play a key role in the ecological as well as the visual health of the village.
Historic maps of lvinghoe show that there were many orchards within the village. These
orchards are significant because they were an important part of the verdant and diverse

agricultural makeup of the village. Where elements of orchards survive within the village,

consideration should be given to their preservation.
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CHAPTER 9 — Permeability and Road Layout

Ivinghoe is situated at the junction of what is now the B488 and the B489. This staggered
junction forms the central focus of the village around which open space and important
buildings such as the church and Town Hall are located. The B488 runs in a south-east to

north-west direction through the village and the B489 runs roughly north-west to south-east

Permeability

i
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The majority of the historic development found within lvinghoe is located along these two
arterial routes. Secondary roads include Vicarage Lane, which runs to the east of Station
Road (the B488) linking with it on the northern and eastern sides of the village. Vicarage
Lane is thought to have originally developed as a back lane serving the buildings fronting
onto Station Road. Wellcroft is a dead-end which developed from a track during the 19th
century with the construction of housing along its southern boundary. Cul-de-sac
developments such as Maud Janes Close date from the 20th century and in terms of the
form of the roads and the layout of the plots, run counter to the primarily linear grain of

historic development which characterises lvinghoe.

From the junction, the B488 bends around the northern eastern boundaries of the
churchyard and the fields to the south-east of the church. Historical maps of the village
show that the road has followed this deviation for many centuries and no evidence exists to
suggest that it ever followed a straight line south-eastwards from the junction with the
B489. The Whistle Brook rises in the field to the south of the church, which may indicate
that this area was considered too wet 